### THE ROLE OF BILIARY CALCIUM IN GALLSTONE PATHOGENESIS

### Robert V. Rege

UT Southwestern Medical Center, 5323 Harry Hines Boulevard, Dallas, Texas 75390-9031

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Total and free ionized calcium concentrations in bile
- 4. Calcium entry into bile
- 5. Calcium absorption from the gallbladder
- 6. Distribution of calcium ions across biliary epithelium
- 7. Supersaturation of bile with calcium
- 8. Kinetic factors in gallstone pathogenesis
- 9. Calcium and gallbladder epithelial cell function
- 10. Summary
- 11. Perspective
- 12. Acknowledgment
- 13. References

## 1. ABSTRACT

Calcium is an element that is extremely important in the pathogenesis of gallstones. It is present in bile in large quantities since components of bile bind the calcium avidly. Precipitated calcium salts with the calcium sensitive ions, bilirubinate, carbonate and phosphate are major components of pigment gallstones and are present in high concentrations in the centers and rims of cholesterol gallstones. An understanding of the solubility of calcium in bile is thus essential if one is to understand the process that leads to gallstone formation. In addition, calcium also has a very important role in the function of the gallbladder epithelial cell. This manuscript discusses what is known about biliary calcium, the factors that regulate total and free calcium concentrations in bile, the solubility of calcium in both normal and lithogenic bile, and the role calcium plays in epithelial cell function during gallstone formation.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

Calcium is a critical element for survival and function of living organisms. On cellular and subcellular levels, it regulates processes such as absorption and secretion, endo- and exocytosis, and integrity of the cell cytoskeleton. It is particularly important for normal contractility in muscle cells and generation of action potentials in nerve cells. In addition, calcium salts

are the major components of exoskeletons (shells) in invertebrates and skeletons (bone) in vertebrates. It is not surprising then that calcium homeostasis is one of the most tightly controlled processes in higher organisms. On the other hand, the concentrations of calcium in body fluids required to maintain these functions carry a clear disadvantage. Body fluids are normally supersaturated with calcium salts, such as calcium carbonate and phosphate, and the potential for pathological precipitation of calcium salts is therefore always present. Although protective mechanisms evolved to ameliorate this tendency. pathologic calcium precipitation manifests itself with aging and in several disease states by abnormal tissue calcification, calcified vascular plaques, and formation of calcium-containing calculi in excretory systems. This discussion will focus on the roles played by calcium in formation and growth of biliary calculi, a problem that affects approximately 10% of individuals in the United States.

In humans, gallstones are classified by visual inspection, chemical analysis, and IR spectroscopy (1-7) as cholesterol (near pure or mixed) or pigment (black or "brown" calcium bilirubinate) gallstones. As indicated by name, cholesterol stones are composed largely of cholesterol crystals (50-99%), but also contain other



**Figure 1.** A: Total (TCa) and free ionized  $(Ca^{+2})$  calcium concentrations in canine bile are plotted against total bile salt concentration ([TBS]). Note that both [TCa] and  $[Ca^{+2}]$  were correlated with total bile salt concentration with the linear relationships: [TCa] = 0.026 x [TBS] + 2.73,  $r^2 = 0.96$  and  $[Ca^{+2}] = 0.007 \text{ x} [TBS] + 1.16$ ,  $r^2 = 0.91$ . Note that the intercepts of both relationships are approximately the values in canine plasma and that the shaded area between the lines represents bound calcium. B: The percentage of calcium that is bound in canine bile is plotted against total bile salt concentration. As bile salt concentration increases in common bile duct bile or in the gallbladder as bile is concentrated, the percent of bound calcium increases from about 58% to about 69%. This demonstrated the strong affinity of bile salts for calcium.

substances forming a central calcium nidus, pigmented regions, and/or calcified shells with composition resembling pigment gallstones (1;8;9). Pigment gallstones are composed of calcium carbonate, phosphate, bilirubinate, and free fatty acids imbedded in an insoluble residue of mucus and a polymer of bilirubin or a bilirubinlike substance (1-5, 8-11). They may also contain up to 10% cholesterol. The composition of pigment gallstones and the distribution of calcium in cholesterol stones led to the hypothesis that calcium precipitation is critical in formation and growth of all types of gallstones (8). For example, the central nidus of calcium in cholesterol gallstones suggests that calcium salts act as nucleating agents for precipitation of cholesterol from cholesterol vesicles in supersaturated bile.

The following discussion examines our current understanding of factors regulating total and free calcium concentrations in bile, and summarizes our understanding of calcium solubility in both normal and lithogenic bile. The nucleating properties of calcium for other substances such as cholesterol and the role played by calcium in gallbladder epithelial cellular function will also be discussed.

# 3. TOTAL AND FREE IONIZED CALCIUM CONCENTRATIONS IN BILE

The total concentration of calcium in bile is much higher than the plasma concentration due to calcium binding by other components of bile, especially bile salts. The binding-affinity of bile salts for calcium ions is particularly strong and accounts for the majority of bound calcium in bile. Thus, total calcium in bile may be separated into two fractions, bound and free calcium. Although the latter species is often termed "free ionized calcium", it should be understood that all calcium in bile is in the ionized state. Free ionized calcium therefore is synonymous with unbound calcium. Free ionized calcium is difficult to measure in bile, but can be quantitated using ultrafiltration of bile and calcium-sensitive electrodes protected from the toxic effects of bile salts (8;9;12-15).

Moore, Celic, and Ostrow (16) studied Ca<sup>+2</sup>binding to six major bile salts in human bile using a calcium-sensitive electrode covered by a protective membrane to eliminate bile salt interference. All six bile salts demonstrated high-affinity premicellar binding and relatively low-affinity micellar binding. Both premicellar and micellar binding were strongly dependent on the number and position of the cholanic ring hydroxy groups of the bile salts – premicellar binding to dihydroxy bile salts was 6-8 times that of trihydroxy (cholate) conjugates, while micellar binding was 3-6 times greater. Binding of calcium by both naturally occurring and synthetic (exotic) bile salts involved the 7- and 12-OH cholanic ring group and terminal carboxyl or sulfonic side chain groups.

The effects of bile salts on calcium concentrations in vivo were studied by examining canine bile collected over a wide range of bile flow and after variable degrees of concentration in the gallbladder (17). Bile in this species contains only taurine conjugates of three major bile salts with calcium binding capacity -cholate, deoxycholate and chenodeoxycholate. As illustrated in (Figure 1), total ([TCa]) and free ionized ([Ca<sup>+2</sup>]) calcium concentrations in bile were always higher than plasma values reflecting calcium binding in bile. When common bile duct and gallbladder bile calcium concentrations were plotted against total bile salt concentrations ([TBS]), linear relationships: [TCa] = 2.73 + 0.26 [TBS], r = 0.96 (upper line, left panel) and  $[Ca^{+2}] = 1.16 + 0.007$  [TBS], r = 0.91 (lower line, left panel), were obtained. The shaded area between the lines in the graph on the left then represents concentrations of bound calcium at each bile salt concentration. The intercepts of both relationships at [TBS] = 0 are approximate canine plasma calcium concentrations indicating that, in the absence of bile salts, bile calcium concentrations would be approximately the same as those in canine plasma. Bile salts bind approximately 58% of calcium in bile at lower bile salt concentrations (Figure 1, right panel) and percent binding increases to as high as 69% at full concentration of bile in the canine gallbladder ([TBS] between 280 and 300

mM). The increase in bound calcium as bile salt concentration rises demonstrates the binding affinity of the bile salts for calcium and their ability to buffer the concentration of free ionized calcium, as bile is concentrated in the gallbladder. However, free ionized calcium concentrations still rise with increasing bile salt concentration demonstrating dual effects of bile salts with respect to calcium. While buffering of calcium by bile salts tend to lower free ionized calcium concentration at any given total calcium concentration, their binding affinity brings more calcium into bile than would be there if they were not present.

The situation is similar in normal human bile although [TCa], [Ca<sup>+2</sup>], and [TBS] are somewhat lower than in canine bile (18), reflecting a different mix of bile salts in humans. When bile samples from 62 patients (40 with cholesterol gallstones, 12 with pigment gallstones, and 10 with normal gallbladders) undergoing operation were examined, both [TCa] and [Ca<sup>+2</sup>] were linearly related to [TBS] with the relationships: [TCa] = 2.58 + 0.07 x [TBS], r = 0.70 and  $[Ca^{+2}] = 1.15 + 0.0034$  x [TBS], r = 0.89. Note again that the intercepts are approximately the same as in human plasma measured using the same technique, but that slopes differ from dog reflecting a different bile salt composition in the two species. When groups of patients were compared, no differences in calcium concentrations were found between control patients and patients with either type of gallstone. However, it should be understood that operation for symptomatic gallstones occurs years after gallstone formation. Calcium elevations might be transient and these data could not exclude calcium abnormalities during active formation of gallstones.

In one sense, binding of calcium by bile salts can be viewed as a protective mechanism; bile salts act as calcium buffers lowering free ionized calcium concentrations. On the other hand, once precipitation begins, bile salt-calcium complexes in bile act as a calcium "sink", fueling the process by releasing calcium as free calcium is consumed by precipitation.

The important species of calcium for assessment of calcium salt saturation in bile is  $[Ca^{+2}]$ , not total calcium (see below – Supersaturation of Bile with Calcium), and  $[Ca^{+2}]$  in bile is normally higher than plasma values. The question thus arose: Is biliary calcium elevated during the formation and growth of gallstones? To answer this question, investigators (19-23) examined animal models of gallstone formation and humans actively forming gallstones (18;24-26).

We (27) examined gallbladder bile obtained by needle puncture of the gallbladder at laparotomy from dogs fasted 12 hours before and 6 weeks after a lithogenic high carbohydrate, low methionine diet. No dogs had stones at initial laparotomy, but all developed pigment gallstones by 6 weeks after lithogenic diet. Total bile salt concentrations in gallbladder bile were similar before and after diet,  $257 \pm$ 7 versus  $241 \pm 9$  mmol/L, demonstrating similar degrees of bile concentration by the gallbladder during the fasting period. Therefore, differences in calcium concentrations

were not due to differences in bile salt concentration or to different degrees of concentration of bile by the gallbladder. Statistically significant increases were observed in  $[Ca^{+2}]$  (3.71 ± 0.17 versus 3.02 ± 0.07 mmol/L) and [TCa]  $(13.16 \pm 0.57 \text{ versus } 10.16 \pm 0.19 \text{ mmol/L})$  in dogs with pigment gallstones compared to their pre-diet samples. These data suggest that elevated biliary calcium plays a role in the development of pigment gallstones in the canine model of pigment gallstones. Trotman (20) measured ionized calcium concentrations in common duct bile from nb/nb hemolytic mice that form pigment gallstones. Ionized calcium concentrations were significantly elevated compared to control mice. When bone marrow was transplanted into histocompatible W/Wv mice, ionized calcium in common duct bile remained significantly elevated, although somewhat lower than in nb/nb mice. These data demonstrate that ionized calcium plays a role in pigment gallstones associated with hemolytic anemia in mice and that concentrations of ionized calcium are in part controlled by genetic factors. Increased total and free ionized calcium have also been observed in prairie dogs forming cholesterol and pigment gallstones (21;22). In all of these models, increases in calcium concentration appear to be transient occurring early during gallstone formation and growth. Once stones form, calcium levels return to normal, consistent with findings in most humans at a time when they require operation.

Obese patients undergoing gastric bypass operations for weight loss present a unique opportunity to study humans as they form gallstones. Thirty-eight percent of these patients develop gallstones and 12% biliary sludge within months of gastric bypass surgery for obesity. As many as a third of the patients with gallstones or sludge require cholecystectomy for symptoms within 6 months of operation during the period of rapid weight loss. Gastric bypass patients at the Medical College of Virginia underwent of bile aspiration from the gallbladder at their initial gastric operation and at the time of cholecystectomy if they developed symptomatic gallstones. Biliary calcium was examined in 68 obese and 27 non-obese patients. Considerable overlap was noted between obese and nonobese patients and between patients with and without gallstones. When all patients were considered, free ionized and bound calcium increased linearly with increasing bile salt concentrations. No differences in the slopes of these relationships were noted in obese patients or in patients with gallstones, although gallstone patients exhibited a greater concentration of free ionized calcium at all concentrations of bile salt. (28)  $[Ca^{+2}]$  increased before, and [Ca<sup>+2</sup>] and mucin concentrations significantly after, formation of stones and sludge (25;26). These studies suggest that increased  $[Ca^{+2}]$  is present in humans during, but not late, after gallstone formation and may be related to or associated with increased concentrations of mucin in bile.

#### 4. CALCIUM ENTRY INTO BILE

The mechanism of entry of calcium into bile has important implications for the therapeutic modulation of

calcium in bile. If calcium is actively secreted into bile, inhibition of the process might be used to reduce biliary calcium concentrations. On the other hand, passive entry indicates that calcium will always be present in bile in high concentrations and, if possible, must be reduced by chelation within the biliary lumen. In 1983, Cummings and Hofmann (29;30) studied the mode of entry of calcium into canine bile over a wide range of bile flow induced by bile salt infusion. Calcium output was tightly linked to bile acid output and, similar to bile flow, could be separated into bile salt-dependent and bile salt-independent fractions. The results were thought to be consistent with passive entry of calcium into bile, but they could not exclude active transport into bile.

Subsequent studies in dogs (31) compared entry of calcium over a wide range of bile flow to entry of potassium, a small ion known to be passively distributed across bile duct epithelium (32). Free ionized calcium concentration increased in a curvilinear fashion as both bile flow and bile acid output increased. The concentration of free ionized calcium rose with increasing bile salt concentration and bile flow below a bile salt concentration of about 40 mM. It then became relatively constant (~ 1.5 mM) at higher bile salt concentrations and rates of bile flow suggesting that entry of calcium into the biliary system is flow limited. Calcium and potassium outputs were tightly linked to bile flow and to each other. A plot of potassium output versus bile flow produced a linear relationship: potassium output = -0.002 + 0.0056 x bile flow, r = 0.99. This relationship demonstrates tight linkage of potassium entry with convective water movement into the duct and an intercept of approximately 0, findings expected for a passively distributed ion. Likewise, a plot of calcium output versus bile flow yielded a linear relationship: calcium output = -0.0018 + 0.0032 x bile flow, r = 0.99. Again, calcium entry was tightly linked to convective water movement and the intercept was near zero, suggesting passive entry. Plotting calcium output against potassium output further emphasized the similarities between calcium and potassium. A very close linear relationship was observed: calcium output = 0.000 + 0.566 x potassium output, r = 0.98. The tight correlation and the intercept of 0 support passive entry of both ions. Note that the slope of 0.566 is higher than the plasma ratio of calcium to potassium of 1.22/4.5 =0.27 reflecting substantial binding of biliary calcium by bile salts.

Gleeson, Murphy and Dowling (33) studied the effects of serum calcium on biliary calcium levels in patients with t-tubes. A 10% calcium gluconate infusion was used to vary serum calcium concentrations. Serum total calcium increased from 2.08 to 3.18 mM and free ionized calcium from 1.13 to 1.68 mM. Biliary total and free ionized calcium increased proportionately with total calcium rising from 1.90 to 2.8 mM and from 0.7 to 1.19 mM. The findings were consistent with passive entry of calcium and partial restriction of calcium entry at the bile flow rates studied. The authors concluded that serum calcium levels were one determinant of biliary calcium concentrations.

These data indicate that entry of the majority of calcium into bile is a passive event. If significant active transport was present, intercepts would not have been 0 and plots of calcium and potassium output would not have been so similar. Tracking of plasma calcium concentrations by biliary calcium also suggests passive entry. The implication of these studies is that calcium will always be present in bile since it enters with convective water movement. It is unlikely that there is any important active cellular secretory mechanism to inhibit that is sufficient to decrease the amount of calcium entering bile. Control of the saturation of calcium salts in bile must therefore be directed toward chelation of calcium in the lumen or reduction in the concentration of calcium sensitive anions in bile. The success of chelation then depends on whether or not calcium enters bile freely. The studies outlined seem to indicate that the movement of calcium across biliary epithelium is somewhat restricted.

Movement of calcium ions across gallbladder epithelium was studied in normal, isolated, cystic ductligated guinea pig gallbladder by inducing convective water movement across the membrane with intraluminal solutions of varying osmolality (34). Calcium movement ( $\Delta Q^{Ca}$ ) was directly and linearly related to water flow, presumably across paracellular channels with the relationship:  $\Delta Q^{Ca} =$  $0.602 \text{ x} \Delta V - 1.27$ , r = 0.71. The slope of the relationship of 0.602 ( $\Delta Q^{Ca}/\Delta V$ ) represents the concentration of calcium translocating the membrane and is only half of plasma or luminal concentration. The mean sieving concentration (1r) calculated from this slope is approximately 0.5 indicating that the epithelium is only moderately permeable to calcium ions. These results confirm that calcium ions move across the membrane in response with convective water movement, and likely with diffusion gradients, but that movement is somewhat restricted.

# 5. CALCIUM ABSORPTION FROM THE GALLBLADDER

The fate of calcium in the canine gallbladder was studied and compared to absorption of potassium, an ion passively distributed across gallbladder epithelium (35). Gallbladder bile from 14 dogs obtained at laparotomy after a 24-hour fast and 12 samples of common duct bile collected from 3 dogs during infusion of sodium taurocholate were examined. Mass balance equations, based on the assumptions that bile salts were not absorbed from the gallbladder and no emptying of gallbladder contents during the fasting period, utilized gallbladder volume and gallbladder and common duct concentrations of bile salts, calcium, (35) and potassium to calculate the volume of common duct bile delivered to the gallbladder. The amounts of an electrolyte presented to and remaining in the gallbladder were calculated as the product of its concentration and the respective volume and absorption of the electrolyte as the difference between the amount of electrolyte presented to and remaining in the gallbladder. If bile salts were absorbed or the gallbladder emptied part of its contents, this methodology underestimates calcium absorption. Therefore, the results of this study represent



**Figure 2.** A: Observed concentrations of free ionized calcium ( $[Ca^{+2}]$ ) obtained from canine gallbladder and common bile duct bile are plotted against total bile salt concentration. The line represents predicted values of calcium calculated using the Gibbs-Donnan effects of bile salts. Note that the observed values straddle the line indicated that  $Ca^{+2}$  ions tend toward Gibbs-Donnan equilibrium values. B: Observed  $[Ca^{+2}]$  is plotted against predicted  $[Ca^{+2}]$ , calculated using the Gibbs-Donnan effects of bile salts. The values nicely straddle the 1:1 line representing perfect correlation, again emphasizing that  $Ca^{+2}$  ions are subject to Gibbs-Donnan forces in bile.

the minimum values of absorption of ions from the canine gallbladder.

The canine gallbladder reduced the volume of bile presented to it by at least 5.3-fold. Bile pH decreased from a mean of 7.7  $\pm$  0.04 in the common duct to 6.09  $\pm$ 0.10 in the gallbladder, essentially eliminating biliary bicarbonate during concentration and acidification. Biliary potassium, total calcium, and free ionized calcium concentrations increased from  $4.7 \pm 0.3$ ,  $3.8 \pm 0.2$ , and 1.5 $\pm$  0.1 mM respectively in the common duct to 10.8  $\pm$  0.2,  $9.8 \pm 0.4$ , and  $2.8 \pm 0.1$  mM in the gallbladder. Despite the increase in concentrations, net absorption of potassium (57%) and calcium (51%) was observed. Absorption of at least 50% of calcium by the canine gallbladder is important to gallstone pathogenesis. Without absorption, calcium concentration would be at least twice as high as the observed value at full concentration in the gallbladder. Therefore, without absorption the ion product and degree of saturation of each calcium salt in bile would be increased at least two-fold.

# 6. DISTRIBUTION OF CALCIUM IONS ACROSS BILIARY EPITHELIUM

Data demonstrating passive entry of calcium into bile and net calcium absorption of calcium in the face of rising concentrations of bound and free calcium seems to be contradictory. The answer to this paradox resides in the linear relationship of free ionized calcium to total bile salt concentration and the physiochemical properties of bile salts. The gallbladder is essentially impermeable to bile salt anions and they accumulate in the gallbladder lumen as the gallbladder concentrates bile. If a membrane separating two solutions is impermeable to electronically charged molecules, but freely permeable to water and small ions, electrochemical and osmotic forces are generated which result in an unequal distribution of ions across the membrane. This situation is referred to a Gibbs-Donnan equilibrium. The biliary tract is thus a classic Gibbs-Donnan system with bile containing high concentrations of impermeant bile salt molecules being separated from plasma by the semipermeable gallbladder epithelium.

By Gibbs-Donnan theory, the distribution of ions g across the membrane at equilibrium is defined as:

$$g = \left(\frac{[Na^+]_b}{[Na^+]_a}\right)^{1/1} = \left(\frac{[K^+]_b}{[K^+]_a}\right)^{1/1} = \left(\frac{[Cl^-]_a}{[Cl^-]_b}\right)^{1/1} = \left(\frac{[Ca^{+2}]_b}{[Ca^{+2}]_a}\right)^{1/2}$$

where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are the respective sides of the membrane. My collaborator, the late Edward Moore, measured Gibbs-Donnan effects generated by bile salts using equilibrium dialysis (unpublished) and found the following relationship conforming to Gibbs-Donnan theory:

Predicted 
$$g = 1 + (0.0027 \text{ x [Total Bile Salt]})$$
 eq. 2

where g is the Gibbs-Donnan ratio defined above. Using this equation and actual data from canine bile, we were able to plot predicted and observed concentrations of calcium in common duct and gallbladder bile.

The concept was tested first with potassium, a small cation that is known to be passively distributed across biliary epithelium. Observed concentrations of potassium were plotted against predicted values calculated using equations 1 and 2. Predicted and observed values nicely straddled the 1:1 line as expected if it was subjected to the Gibbs-Donnan effects of bile salts. Although is understood that bile is never in true equilibrium, it appears that potassium values approach the values predicted by Gibbs-Donnan theory. Like calcium, net absorption of potassium occurs during concentration of bile in the gallbladder lumen and its concentration rises.

Predicted calcium concentrations were calculated in a similar manner and were plotted in two ways (Figure 2). Observed values are plotted against total bile salt concentration (Figure 2, left panel). Note that observed values nicely straddle the line, which represents the expected curvilinear relationship between free ionized calcium and total bile salt concentrations calculated using equations 1 and 2. A plot of observed versus predicted free ionized calcium concentrations (Figure 2, right panel) demonstrates the excellent fit of data around the expected 1:1 line. The excellent correlation between observed and predicted free ionized calcium concentrations in canine bile (Figure 2) indicate that calcium, likely potassium, is passively distributed throughout the biliary tract and subject to Gibbs-Donnan effects of bile salts.

### 7. SUPERSATURATION OF BILE WITH CALCIUM

A prerequisite for precipitation of any substance from solution is supersaturation of the solution with the substance. The saturation of salts in aqueous solution is well understood. Below the saturation point, precipitation cannot occur; above this point, the solution is supersaturated and precipitation becomes thermodynamically possible. The point of saturation may be defined by a solubility product, Ksp', where:

Ksp' =  $[cation^{+x}]^{x} * [anion^{-y}]^{y}$ 

Where  $[\operatorname{cation}^{+x}]$  and  $[\operatorname{anion}^{-y}]$  are the concentrations of the cation and anion forming the salt with the valences x and y, respectively (8;9).

These general principles apply to the saturation of bile with calcium. Saturation of bile with at least one calcium salt is a prerequisite for calcium precipitation; that is, the ion product  $[Ca^{+2}]^2 x$  [anion<sup>-x</sup>]<sup>x</sup> in solution must exceed Ksp' for that salt. In bile, carbonate, phosphate, bilirubinate, and free fatty acids, the substances commonly found in gallstones, form insoluble calcium salts (low Ksp') and are the anions of interest to investigators examining gallstone pathogenesis. Note that the ion product of a calcium salt may be increased due to an increase in calcium concentration, an increase in the concentration of the calcium sensitive anion, or increases in both (8;9). Therefore, saturation of bile with calcium might be due to problems with calcium, calcium-sensitive anions, or both.

From data on calcium concentrations in canine and human bile (see above), increasing  $[Ca^{+2}]$  as bile is concentrated in the gallbladder would result in a greater degree of calcium saturation (higher ion product for each salt). For example, normal concentration of bile by the canine gallbladder results in a two to three-fold increase in  $[Ca^{+2}]$  (Figure 1), and thus the ion product of each calcium salt. During pigment gallstone formation in dogs and humans,  $[Ca^{+2}]$  is further increased above normal exacerbating this tendency. However, saturation of a calcium salt requires knowledge about the concentration of the anion in question. No conclusions about saturation can be made unless data for both the cation (calcium) and anion are known.

To explore this further, ion products in canine bile (17)were calculated for calcium carbonate from common bile duct and gallbladder bile. Despite increasing  $[Ca^{+2}]$ , the ion product fell precipitously from an high of approximately 6.5 x 10<sup>-7</sup> to 2.0 x 10<sup>-10</sup>, values well below the Ksp' of 3.76 x 10<sup>-8</sup> for this salt, calculated using similar methodology. The lesson learned from these studies is that although calcium concentrations rise in bile during concentration, the concentrations of calcium-sensitive anions in bile decrease under normal conditions as they are absorbed or in the case of carbonate, as the critical species  $(CO_3^{=})$ , decreases due to bile acidification.

Studies in humans and experimental animals models of pigment gallstones support the concept that supersaturation of bile with calcium bilirubinate is important for pigment gallstone formation and that increased concentrations of unconjugated bilirubin (UCB) are important in the pathogenesis of these stones. (1:19:36-42). Increased concentrations of UCB is a consistent finding in humans, dogs, prairie dogs and mice with pigment gallstones, and must play a key role in each circumstance. In humans, increased concentrations of unconjugated bilirubin is due to hydrolysis of conjugated bilirubin (38) or to hemolytic anemia, while nb/nb mice (20;36;37) have congenital hemolytic anemia, which leads to increased hepatic secretion of UCB. In dogs, the cause of increased biliary [UCB] is not known. Likewise, biliary [UCB] increases in children (43) and pigs receiving parenteral nutrition, in a pigment gallstone model in prairie dogs (44). and with Crohn's disease (45). UCB secretion also increases in cirrhosis and with hemolytic anemia. The incidence of pigment gallstones is high in each case (1). Although these studies emphasize the importance of biliary anions in supersaturation of bile with calcium salts, the concentration of calcium is also elevated in many of these circumstances compared to normal patients or control animals. Therefore, it is likely that supersaturation of bile for calcium salts is due to both increases in biliary calcium and calcium-sensitive anion concentrations.

These principles were illustrated in a study examining the degree of calcium bilirubinate saturation in dogs with pigment gallstones. Comparison of 15 normal dogs with 15 dogs with pigment gallstones induced by 6 weeks of methionine-deficient diet revealed that there was minimal alteration in the gallbladder's ability to acidify or concentrate bile during stone formation. Both bile  $[Ca^{+2}]$ and unconjugated bilirubin concentrations increased It is not possible to measure the significantly. concentration of unbound bilirubinate in bile accurately to calculate the Ksp' for calcium bilirubinate. Therefore, the total unconjugated bilirubinate were compared to equilibrium values in model bile salt solutions constructed with biliary lipid concentration similar to the canine In normal bile, unconjugated bilirubin samples. concentrations were equal to or lower than those measured in model bile solutions with comparable  $[Ca^{+2}]$ . On the other hand, unconjugated bilirubin concentrations exceeded those found at equilibrium in model bile solutions indicating that bile from dogs actively forming stones was supersaturated with calcium bilirubinate. Supersaturation was due to a combined increase in calcium and unconjugated bilirubin concentrations.

# 8. KINETIC FACTORS IN GALLSTONE PATHOGENESIS

Although precipitation of a substance becomes possible once supersaturation occurs, other factors

determine if and when precipitation occurs. Supersaturated solutions may remain in metastable state for long periods of time. This principle has been well documented with cholesterol gallstones. Many individuals develop bile supersaturated with cholesterol, but most never develop cholesterol gallstones. Therefore, an understanding of the kinetic factors that determine when, if, and how quickly calcium salt precipitation occurs is important in the understanding of gallstone pathogenesis (46-50). Wang (51) mapped crystallization pathways for cholesterol in model solutions and studied the effects of added calcium. Calcium increased the number of solid crystals that formed. but did not influence the appearance of crystals, the crystallization pathway, or the micellar solubility for cholesterol. Teramen (52) examined the effects of biliary concanavalin-A bound glycoproteins and calcium ions on cholesterol crystal growth. Concanavalin-A bound glycoproteins accelerated nucleation time and growth rate and shifted a considerable amount of cholesterol from micelles to vesicles. Calcium only affected nucleation time and enhanced the effects of concanavalin-A bound glycoproteins.

The precipitation of calcium salts to form exoand endoskeletons is a carefully controlled process, which requires surrounding fluids to be supersaturated with the respective calcium salt. Organisms have developed sophisticated methods of controlling this biomineralization process, including nucleating and anti-nucleating proteins. Thus, it is not surprising that canine bile (50;53) contains potent factor(s), which inhibit calcium carbonate precipitation. Addition of large amounts of calcium to bile increasing saturation indices in bile 4 to 12-fold did not result in calcium carbonate precipitation. In contrast, addition of calcium to NaCl-NaHCO3 solutions constructed with saturation indices comparable to the bile samples resulted in precipitation once a two to three-fold increase in saturation index was reached (35). The addition of only 0.2 ml of canine bile abolishes precipitation of calcium carbonate from supersaturated saline solutions, whereas taurocholate and albumin have little effect. The effect is not due to a decrease in calcium concentration or the degree of calcium carbonate saturation, and remains even when the bile is diluted 10-fold (50). Some of the effect may be due to bile salts that are known to inhibit calcium hydroxyapatite precipitation from solution (54), but inhibition at high dilution suggests that the factor is truly an anti-nucleating agent, probably a protein that is normally secreted into bile. It has also been shown that other normal components of bile, albumin, bilirubin, sodium taurocholate, and phospholipid (55) and polyamines (56) inhibit calcium carbonate precipitation to some extent.

Several investigators (57-67) have isolated calcium-binding proteins from stones and bile and examined their role as nucleating and antinucleating agents. Afdhal *et al.* (61) demonstrated that calcium-binding protein also binds to mucin. They also showed inhibition of calcium phosphate precipitation by mucin and a decrease in the mass of precipitation by calcium binding protein plus mucin. They concluded that calcium-binding protein and mucin participated in a biomineralization process important

for gallstone formation and growth. Van den Berg and his co-workers (63) examined the complex relationships between calcium-binding protein and mucin. Calcium phosphate precipitates, and to a lesser extent soluble calcium, stimulated cholesterol crystallization from model bile solutions. Addition of human mucin increased the mass of precipitated cholesterol crystals. Human albumin plus calcium-binding protein together, but not alone, decreased the stimulatory effect of calcium, but not if mucin was also added. It appears that calcium salt precipitates and human mucin are strong nucleating agents for cholesterol precipitation while calcium-binding proteins have markedly less effects. Although the role of calcium in cholesterol precipitation is quite complex and dependent on other factors in bile, studies to date indicate that calcium plays an important role in this process.

It is expected that, as has been suggested for cholesterol, precipitation of calcium from bile depends not only on the degree of saturation, but also on a balance of calcium nucleating and anti-nucleating factors which control whether precipitation actually occurs once the thermodynamic prerequisite of supersaturation is present. These observations may also explain why dogs do not spontaneously develop gallstones, despite marked calcium carbonate supersaturation of bile.

# 9. CALCIUM AND GALLBLADDER EPITHELIAL CELL FUNCTION

Giurgiu and co-workers studied formation of cholesterol gallstones in prairie dogs and found increases in biliary lipids and increased concentrations of free ionized calcium associated with altered ion transport. Gallstone formation was divided into three phases - pre-crystal formation, presence of crystals, and presence of gallstones (68). Free ionized calcium concentrations were significantly elevated in the pre-crystal phase and progressively increased as crystals and gallstone appeared. Sodium absorption increased during the pre-crystal phase, normalized as the serosal-to-mucosal fluxes of sodium and chloride increased with appearance of crystals, and then decreased when gallstones formed. The authors speculated that the alteration in gallbladder cell transport might be related to elevated calcium and bile salt concentration in gallbladder bile. Subsequent studies (69;70) demonstrated that biliary calmodulin concentrations were altered during cholesterol gallstone formation in the prairie dog and that gallstone formation diminishes calmodulin-mediated inhibition of gallbladder epithelial cell sodium chloride transport. Lithogenic (1.2% cholesterol) diet increased calmodulin, phospholipid, and cholesterol concentrations in hepatic and gallbladder bile. Gallbladder tissue levels of calmodulin were not elevated indicating that the increased biliary levels of calmodulin originated in the liver and seemed to be related to increased concentrations of the bile taurochenodeoxycholate and phospholipid salt hypersecretion (70). Because free ionized calcium is elevated prior to cholesterol gallstone formation in this species and since Ca+2-calmodulin tonically inhibits gallbladder absorption under normal circumstances, ion transport by prairie dog gallbladders from control animals

and animals feed a lithogenic, 1.2% cholesterol diet were studied *in vitro* in Ussing chambers. Electrophysiological parameters and ion flux were examined in the presence and absence of the calmodulin antagonist trifluoperazine or the calcium ionophore A23187. Trifluoperazine decreased short circuit current, transepithelial potential difference, and tissue conductance, but had less effect on animals fed the high cholesterol diet. These effects were not reversed by A23187. These results are consistent with partial release of basal inhibition of gallbladder ion transport during cholesterol gallstone formation in the prairie dog.

The role of intra- and extracellular calcium in the conversion of gallbladder absorption to secretion during cholesterol gallstone formation in the prairie dog was studied using the calcium ionophore A23187 (71). Sodium, chloride, and water fluxes were measured in the Ussing chamber with varying concentrations of calcium (5-10 mM) in the mucosal bathing solution and in the presence and absence of A23187. The ionophore increased short circuit current, transepithelial potential difference and tissue resistance. These changes were associated with decreases in mucosal-to-serosal flux of chloride and stimulation of serosal-to-mucosal flux of sodium. The net result was net chloride secretion, decreased sodium absorption and conversion of water absorption to water secretion. The effects of A23187 were blunted by low bathing solution calcium concentrations. These studies indicate that intracellular calcium regulates ion transport by the gallbladder epithelial cell and that high intracellular calcium concentrations convert normal absorption to secretion.

The formation of gallstones associated with octreotide is also associated with increased concentrations of biliary calcium. The effects of octreotide on ion transport were therefore studied in prairie dog gallbladder (72). Gallbladders were mounted in Ussing chambers and ion transport was studied in the presence and absence of 50 nmol octreotide. During basal conditions, the gallbladder absorbed sodium and calcium. Serosal octreotide increased net sodium absorption by stimulating mucosal-to-serosal flux of sodium and decreased tissue conductance and short circuit current significantly. In addition, basal calcium absorption was converted to net calcium secretion by stimulating serosal-to-mucosal calcium flux. Calcium secretion stimulated by octreotide may account for the elevated concentrations of gallbladder bile calcium noted with this agent.

### **10. SUMMARY**

Calcium is an important component of bile and of gallstones and studies outlined above indicate that it plays several important roles in the formation and growth of all types of gallstones. An understanding of the factors that control entry of calcium into bile, biliary concentrations of calcium in the bile ducts and gallbladder, absorption of calcium from the gallbladder, and calcium solubility in bile are important for an understanding of precipitation of calcium salts from bile. In addition, the role of calcium in normal and pathological gallbladder epithelial function adds yet another dimension to our understanding of the pathological events leading to gallstone formation in the gallbladder. In addition, failure of gallstone dissolution is often attributed to calcium shells surrounding the stones, and an understanding of calcium solubility is key for the successful non-surgical treatment and prevention of gallstones of all types.

### **11. PERSPECTIVE**

As outlined here, calcium is a critical element in gallstone pathogenesis. The concentration of calcium in bile increases significantly during early gallstone formation contributing to increased saturation of each calcium salt in bile. The causes of these increases have not been determined but may be due to increased secretion of calcium into bile, decreased absorption from the gallbladder lumen through a thickened mucin layer overlying the gallbladder epithelium, or due to impaired gallbladder epithelial cell function, or simply due to increased Gibbs-Donnan forces of biliary anions such as bile salts or mucin which may be abnormal during gallstone formation. However, studies on calcium salt saturation indicate that supersaturation of these salts is even more dependent on the concentration of calcium-sensitive anions in bile, including bilirubinate, carbonate and phosphate. Thus, it is not known if eliminating the observed increases in biliary calcium concentration will prevent gallstone formation. Moreover, studies to date have shown that calcium will always be present in bile in large quantities since it enters freely into the biliary tract and is controlled by passive forces. No calcium excretion process can be inhibited to decrease biliary calcium. Thus, control of biliary calcium will require chelation of calcium in the lumen and may not be easily controlled. To date, this has not been possible, although attempts have been made to synthesize novel bile salts with high calcium binding ability. However, an improved understanding of the factors that control biliary calcium and its role in gallstone formation have greatly improved our understanding of gallstone pathogenesis.

### **12. ACKNOWLEDGMENT**

Dr. Edward Moore, Richmond, Virginia, my mentor and friend for more than 20-years, was without a doubt, the significant catalyst to my career in research. His support and encouragement through the years was unfailing and I am eternally grateful.

#### **13. REFERENCES**

1. Soloway R. D, B. W. Trotman & J. D. Ostrow: Pigment Gallstones. *Gastroenterology* 72, 167-82 (1977)

2. Wosiewitz U: Limy Bile and Radiopaque, Calcified Gallstones: A Combined Analytical, Radiographic and Micromorphologic Examination. *Path Res* 167, 273-86 (1980)

3. Wosiewitz U. & S. Schroebler: On the Chemistry of "Black" Pigment Stones from the Gallbladder. *Clin Chim Acta* 89, 1-12 (1978)

4. Trotman B. W, T. A. Morris III, H. M. Sanchez, R. D. Soloway & J. D. Ostrow: Pigment Vs. Cholesterol Cholelithiasis. Identification and Quantification by Infrared Spectroscopy. *Gastroenterology* 72, 495-8 (1977)

5. Nakayama F: Quantitative Microanalysis of Gallstones. *J Lab Clin Med* 72, 602-11 (1969)

6. Kaufman H. S, K. D. Lillimoe, T. H. Magnuson, P. Frasca & H. A. Pitt: Backscattered Electron Imaging and Windowless Energy Dispersive X-Ray Microanalysis: a New Technique for Gallstone Analysis. *Scanning Microscopy* 4, 853-60 (1990)

7. Kaufman H. S, T. H. Magnuson, H. A. Pitt, P. Frasca & K. D. Lillemoe: The Distribution of Calcium Salt Precipitates in the Core, Periphery and Shell of Cholesterol, Black Pigment, and Brown Pigment Gallstones. *Hepatology* 19(5), 1124-32 (1994)

8. Moore E. W: The Role of Calcium in the Pathogenesis of Gallstones: Ca2+ Electrode Studies of Model Bile Salt Solutions and Other Biologic Systems. *Hepatology* 4, 228S-43S (1984)

9. Moore E. W: Biliary Calcium and Gallstone Formation. *Hepatology* 12, 206S-18S (1990)

10. Black B. E, S. H. Carr, H. Ohkubo & J. D. Ostrow: Equilibrium Swelling of Pigment Gallstones: Evidence for Network Polymer Structure. *Biopolymers* 21, 601-6 (1982)

11. Ohkubo H, J. D. Ostrow, S. H. Carr & R. V. Rege: Polymer Networks in Pigment and Cholesterol Gallstones Assessed by Equilibrium Swelling and Infrared Spectroscopy. *Gastroenterology* 87, 805-14 (1984)

12. Williamson B. W., A & I. W. Percy-Robb: Contribution of Biliary Lipids to Calcium Binding in Bile. *Gastroenterology* 78, 696-702 (1980)

13. Williamson B. W. A. & I. W. Percy-Robb: The Interactions of Calcium Ions with Glycocholate Micelles in Aqueous Solutions. *Biochem.J.* 181, 61-6 (1979)

14. Gleeson D, G. M. Murphy & R. H. Dowling: Calcium Binding by Bile Acids: *in vitro* Studies Using a Calcium Ion Electrode. *J Lipid Res.* 31, 781-91 (1990)

15. Rajagopalan N. & S. Lindenbaum: The Binding of  $Ca^{2+}$  to Taurine- and Glycine-Conjugated Bile Salts Micelles. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 711, 66-74 (1982)

16. Moore E. W, L. Celic & J. D. Ostrow: Interactions Between Ionized Calcium and Sodium Taurocholate: Bile Salts Are Important Buffers for Prevention of Calcium-Containing Gallstones. *Gastroenterology* 83, 1079-89 (1982)

17. Rege R. V. & E. W. Moore: Pathogenesis of Calcium-Containing Gallstones: Canine Ductular Bile, but Not Gallbladder Bile, Is Supersaturated With Calcium Carbonate. *J Clin Invest* 77, 21-6 (1986) 18. Dawes L. G. & R. V. Rege: Calcium and Calcium Binding in Human Gallstone Disease. *Archives of Surg* 125, 1606-9 (1990)

19. Dawes L. G., D. L. Nahrwold & R. V. Rege: Supersaturation of Canine Gallbladder Bile with Calcium Bilirubinate during Formation of Pigment Gallstones. *Am J Surg* 157, 82-8 (1989)

20. Trotman B. W, N. Lakshminarayanaiah, S. E. Bernstein, S. A. Kaplan & C. Margulies: Interaction of Hemolysis and Genotype on Ionized Calcium in Bile of Mice With Hemolysis-Induced Gallstones. *Gastroenterology* 87, 1127-30 (1984)

21. Strichartz S. D, M. Z. Abedin, S. Abdou & J. J. Roslyn: Increased Biliary Calcium in Cholesterol Gallstone Formation. *Am J Surg* 155, 131-7 (1988)

22. Abedin M. Z, S. D. Strichartz, S. Festekdjian & J. J. Roslyn: Increased Biliary Calcium in Cholesterol and Pigment Gallstone Disease: the Role of Altered Bile Acid Composition. *Lipids* 24(7), 572-8 (1989)

23. Moser A. J, M. Z. Abedin & J. J. Roslyn: Increased Biliary Protein Precedes Gallstone Formation. *Dig Dis & Sci* 39(6), 1313-20 (1994)

24. Rudnicki M, T. Jorgensen & J. Thode: Increased Activity of Ionized Calcium in Gall Bladder Bile in Gall Stone Disease. *Gut* 33(10), 1404-7 (1992)

25. Shiffman M. L, H. J. Sugerman, J. M. Kellum, W. H. Brewer & E. W. Moore: Gallstone Formation Following Rapid Weight Loss. A Prospective Study in Patients Undergoing Gastric Bypass Surgery for Treatment of Morbid Obesity. *Am J Gastroenterology* 86, 1000-5 (1991)

26. Shiffman M. L, H. J. Sugerman, J. M. Kellum, W. H. Brewer & E. W. Moore: Gallstones in Patients with Severe Obesity. Relation to Body Weight, Weight Loss, and Gallbladder Bile Cholesterol Solubility. *International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders* 17(3), 153-8 (1993)

27. Dawes L. G, D. L. Nahrwold & R. V. Rege: Increased Total and Free Ionized Calcium in a Canine Model of Pigment Gallstones. *Surgery* 104, 86-90 (1988)

28. Shiffman M. L, H. J. Sugerman, J. M. Kellum & E. W. Moore: Calcium in Human Gallbladder Bile. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine* 120(6), 875-84 (1992)

29. Cummings S. A. & A. F. Hofmann: Physiologic Determinants of Biliary Calcium Secretion in the Dog. *Gastroenterology* 87, 664-73 (1984)

30. Hofmann A. F. & S. A. Cummings: Biliary calcium secretion and its relationship to biliary calcium concentration and biliary calcium activity. In: Recent Advances in Bile Acid Research. Eds: Barbara L., Dowling R. H., Hofmann A. F., and Roda E. Raven Press, New York 87-108 (1985)

31. Rege R. V, L. G. Dawes, & E. W. Moore: Biliary Calcium Secretion in the Dog Occurs Primarily by Passive Convection and Diffusion and Is Linked to Bile Flow. *J Lab Clin Med* 115, 593-602 (1990)

32. Dietschy J. M. & E. W. Moore: Diffusion Potentials and Potassium Distribution Across the Gallbladder Wall. *J Clin Invest* 43, 1551-60 (1964)

33. Gleeson D., G. M. Murphy & R. H. Dowling: Changes in Serum Calcium Levels Influence Biliary Calcium Levels in Humans. *Gastroenterology* 107(6), 1812-8 (1994)

34. Rege R. V, & E. W. Moore: Convective Movement of Ca<sup>2+</sup> Ions Across Guinea Pig Gallbladder Epithelium. *Am J Physiol* 262, G990-G995 (1992)

35. Rege R. V, D. L. Nahrwold, & E. W. Moore: Absorption of Biliary Calcium from the Canine Gallbladder: Protection Against the Formation of Calcium-Containing Gallstones. *J Lab Clin Med* 110, 381-6 (1987)

36. Trotman, B. W, S. E. Bernstein, W. F. Balistreri, G. D. Wirt, & R. A. Martin: Hemolysis-Induced Gallstones in Mice: Increased Unconjugated Bilirubin in Hepatic Bile Predisposes to Gallstone Formation. *Gastroenterology* 81, 232-6 (1981)

37. Trotman B. W, S. E. Bernstein, W. F. Balistreri, & R. A. Martin: Interaction of Hemolytic Anemia and Genotype on Hemolysis-Induced Gallstone Formation in Mice. *Gastroenterology* 84, 719-24 (1983)

38. Boonyapisit S. T, B. W. Trotman, & J. D. Ostrow: Unconjugated Bilirubin and the Hydrolysis of Conjugated Bilirubin in Gallbladder Bile of Patients with Cholelithiasis. *Gastroenterology* 74, 70-4 (1978)

39. Wosiewitz U, J. Althoff, & P. Langhans: Beta-Glucuronidase Activity in Human Cholesterol and Pigment Stone Bile. *Z Gastroenterology* 12, 237-9 (1982)

40. Hikasa Y, M. Nagase, H. Tanimura, R. Shioda, M. Setoyama, N. Kobayashi, S. Mukaihara, T. Kamata, K. Murayama, H. Kato & K. Mori: Epidemiology and Etiology of Gallstones. *Arch Japan Chir* 49, 555-71 (1980)

41. Englert E, C. G. Harmon & E. Wales: Gallstones Induced by Normal Foodstuffs in Dogs. *Nature* 224, 280-1. (1969)

42. Englert E, C. G. Harmon, J. W. Freston, K. C. Straight & E. E. Wales: Studies on the Pathogenesis of Diet-Induced Dog Gallstones. *Dig Dis Sci* 22, 305-14 (1977)

43. Roslyn J. J, W. E. Berquist, H. A. Pitt, L. L. Mann, H. Kangarloo, L. DenBesten, & M. E. Ament: Increased Risk of Gallstones in Children Receiving Total Parenteral Nutrition. *Pediatrics* 71, 784-9 (1983)

44. Conter R. L, J. J. Roslyn, H. A. Pitt & L. DenBesten: Carbohydrate Diet-Induced Calcium Bilirubinate Sludge and Pigment Gallstones in the Prairie Dog. J Surg Res 40, 580-7 (1986)

45. Dawes L. G, S. Stryker, R. V. Rege & D. L. Nahrwold: Gallbladder Bile Composition in Crohn's Disease. *Surgical Forum* 42, 188-9 (1991)

46. Burnstein M. J, R. G. Ilson, C. N. Petrunka, R. D. Taylor & S. M. Strasberg: Evidence for a Potent Nucleating Factor in the Gallbladder Bile of Patients with Cholesterol Gallstones. *Gastroenterology* 85:801-7 (1983)

47. Levy P. F, B. F Smith & J. T. Lamont: Human Gallbladder Mucin Accelerates Nucleation of Cholesterol in Model Bile *Gastroenterology* 87, 270-5 (1984)

48. Groen A. K, J. A. G. Drapers & G. N. J. Tytgat: Cholesterol Nucleation and Gallstone Formation. *J Hepatology* 6, 383-7 (1988)

49. Groen, A. K: Nonmucous Glycoproteins as Pronucleating Agents. Hepatology 12, 189S-94S (1990)

50. Dawes L. G, E. W. Moore, R. V. Rege, S. Shimizu & J. D. Ostrow: Canine Bile Contains Anti-Crystallization Factors Which Inhibit Precipitation of CaCO<sub>3</sub>. *Hepatology* 14, 701-6 (1991)

51. Wang, J. L. & M. C. Carey: Complete Mapping of Crystallization Pathways during Cholesterol Precipitation from Model Bile: Influence of Physical-Chemical Variables of Pathophysiologic Relevance and Identification of a Stable Liquid Crystalline State in Cold, Dilute and Hydrophilic Bile Salt-Containing Systems. *J Lip Res* 37(3), 606-30 (1996)

52. Teramen K, S. Tazuma, T. Ohya & G. Kajiyama: Comparative Effects on Biliary Concancavalin A-Bound Glycoproteins and Calcium Ion on Cholesterol Crystal Nucleation and Growth in Model Bile. *J Gastroenterology* 30(4), 500-7 (1995)

53. Rege R.V., L. G. Dawes & E. W. Moore: Canine Common Duct and Gallbladder Bile Contain Antinucleating Factors That Inhibit CaCO3 Precipitation. *J Lab Clin Med* 113, 642-50 (1989)

54. Okido M, R. D. Soloway & R. S. Crowther: Influence of Phospholipid on Bile Salt Binding to Calcium Hydroxyapatite and on the Poisoning of Nascent Hydroxyapatite Crystals. *Liver* 16(5), 321-5 (1996)

55. Tam M. L, M. K. Fox-Talbot, H. A. Pitt, K. D. Lillimoe & P. A. Lipsett: Bilirubin Inhibits Calcium Carbonate Precipitation in Gallbladder Bile. *Surgery* 118(3), 524-30 (1995)

56. Crowther R. S, C. M. Pritchard, S. M. Qui & R. D. Soloway: Inhibition of Calcium Hydroxyapatite Formation by Polyamines. *Liver* 13(3), 141-5 (1993)

57. Halpern Z, H. Lafont, J. Arad, N. Domingo, Y. Peled, F. Konicoff & T. Gilat: The Distribution of the Biliary-

Anionic Polypeptide Fraction Between Cholesterol Carriers in Bile and Its Effects on Nucleation. *Journal of Hepatology* 21(6), 979-83 (2001)

58. Martigne M, N. Domingo, H. Lafont, G. Nalbone & J. C. Hauton: Purification of the Human Anionic Polypeptide Fraction of the Apo-Bile Lipoprotein Complex by Zonal Ultracentrifugation. *Lipids* 20, 884-9 (1985)

59. Domingo N, H. Lafont, J. Grosclaude, Z. Halpern, D. Peled & T. Gilat: Anionic Polypeptide Fraction (APF) in Bile of Patients with and Without Gallstones. *Hepatology* 17(5), 778-80 (1993)

60. Lafont H, N. Domingo, A. K. Groen, E. W. Kaler, S. P. Lee, R. Koehler, J. D. Ostrow & A. Veis: APF/CBP, the Small, Amphipathic, Anionic Protein(s) in Bile and Gallstones, Consists of Lipid-Binding and Calcium-Binding Forms. *Hepatology* 25(5), 1054-63 (1997)

61. Afdhal N. H, J. D. Ostrow, R. Koehler, N. Niu, A. K. Groen, A. Veis, D. P. Nunes & G. D. Offner: Interaction of Bovine Gallbladder Mucin and Calcium-Binding Protein: Effects on Calcium Phosphate Precipitation. *Gastroenterology* 109(5), 1661-72 (1995)

62. Kestell M. F., J. Sekijima, S. P. Lee, H. Z. Park, M. Long & E. W. Kaler: A Calcium-Binding Protein in Bile and Gallstones. *Hepatology* 16(6), 1315-21 (1992)

63. van den Berg A. A., J. D. Van Buul, G. N. Tytgat, A. K. Groen & J. D. Ostrow: Mucins and Calcium Phosphate Precipitates Additively Stimulate Cholesterol Crystallization. *J Lip Res* 39(9), 1744-51 (1998)

64. Domingo N, J. Grosclaude, E. D. Bekaert, M. J. Chapman, S. Shimizu, M. Ayrault-Jarrier, J. D. Ostrow & H. Lafont: Epitope Mapping of the Human Biliary Amphipathic Anionic Polypeptide (BAAP): Similarity With a Calcium-Binding Protein (CBP) Isolated From Gallstones and Bile and Immunologic Cross-Reactivity With Apolipoprotein A-I. *J Lip Res* 33, 1419-30 (1992)

65. Okido M, S. Shimizu, J. D. Ostrow & F. Nakayama: Isolation of a Calcium Regulatory Protein from Black Pigment Gallstones: Similarity with a Protein from Cholesterol Gallstones. *Hepatology* 5, 1079-85 (1992)

66. Ostrow J. D: APF/CBP, an Anionic Polypeptide in Bile and Gallstones That May Regulate Calcium Salt and Cholesterol Precipitation From Bile. *Hepatology* 16, 1493-6 (1992)

67. Shimizu S, B. Sabsay, A. Veis, J. D. Ostrow, R. V. Rege & L. G. Dawes: Isolation of an Acidic Protein From Cholesterol Gallstones, Which Inhibits the Precipitation of Calcium Carbonate *in vitro*. *J Clin Invest* 84, 1990-6 (1989)

68. Giurgiu D. I., K. D. Saunders-Kirkwood, J. J. Roslyn, & M. Z. Abedin: Sequential Changes in Biliary Lipids and

Gallbladder Ion Transport during Gallstone Formation. Ann Surg 225(4), 382-90 (1997)

69. Moser A. J, D. I. Giurgiu, K. E. Morgenstern, Z. R. Abedin, J. J. Roslyn & M. Z. Abedin: Calmodulin Regulation of Gallbladder Ion Transport Becomes Dysfunctional During Gallstone Formation in Prairie Dogs. *Dig Dis Sci* 45(7), 1422-30 (2000)

70. Moser A. J., J. A. Karam, D. I. Giurgiu, P. A. Weber, Z. R. Abedin, J. J. Roslyn & M. Z. Abedin: Elevated Biliary Calmodulin During Gallstone Formation: the Role of Bile Acids. *Dig Dis Sci* 43 (1), 170-7 (1998)

71. Moser A. J., M. Z. Abedin, J. A. Cates, D. I. Giurgiu, J. A. Karam & J. J. Roslyn: Converting Gallbladder Absorption to Secretion: The Role of Intracellular Calcium. *Surgery* 119(4), 410-6 (1999)

72. Moser A. J., D. I. Giurgiu, K. E. Morgenstern, Z. R. Abedin, J. J. Roslyn & M. Z. Abedin: Octreotide Stimulate Ca<sup>++</sup> Secretion by the Gallbladder: a Risk Factor for Gallstones. Surgery 125(5), 509-13 (1999)

Key Words: Gallbladder, Gallstones, Bile Salts, Calcium, Review

Send correspondence to: Robert V. Rege, MD, Professor and Chairman, Department of Surgery, UT Southwestern Medical Center, 5323 Harry Hines Boulevard, Dallas, Texas 75390-9031. Tel: 214-648-3050, Fax: 214-648-6752, E-mail: robert.rege@utsouthwestern.edu